## **Supreme Court Copy**

No. S181627

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUL 12 2010

DAWN RENAE DIAZ,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Deputy

v.

JOSE CARCAMO and SUGAR TRANSPORT OF THE NORTHWEST, LLC,

Defendants and Appellants.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six, No. B211127

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of Ventura County, No. CIV 241085, Hon. Frederick Bysshe

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Does an employer's admission of respondeat superior liability for the alleged negligence of an employee in operating a motor vehicle bar a plaintiff from introducing inflammatory evidence regarding the employee's driving record and employment history to prove an alternative theory of employer liability, as this Court held in *Armenta v. Churchill* (1954) 42 Cal.2d 448 (*Armenta*) and the Fourth District reaffirmed in *Jeld-Wen*, *Inc. v. Superior Court* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 853 (*Jeld-Wen*), review den. Oct. 19, 2005? Or is the *Armenta* rule limited to negligent entrustment actions not involving the allocation of fault required by Proposition 51, as the Court of Appeal here held, even though this would contravene the purpose of the rule, no allocation is possible between an employer and employee once respondeat superior liability is admitted, and *Jeld-Wen* rejected both of these purported limitations?

#### INTRODUCTION

For more than 50 years, the rule in California has been that if an employer admits respondent superior liability for an employee driver's negligence in causing an accident, the plaintiff cannot pursue alternative theories of employer liability that would allow the plaintiff to introduce evidence of the employee's prior accidents, poor driving record, and poor character. (*Armenta*, *supra*, 42 Cal.2d at pp. 456-458; *Jeld-Wen*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at pp. 869-871.)

The purpose of the *Armenta* rule, adopted by a majority of jurisdictions that have addressed the issue, is to promote judicial economy and protect the reliability of the trial process. If the employee drove appropriately on the occasion at issue, any unreasonableness in hiring the employee or in entrusting him or her with a vehicle was not a proximate

cause of the accident. Alternatively, if the employee drove negligently, the employer is strictly liable under the doctrine of respondeat superior for any and all harm caused by its employee, regardless of the reasonableness of the hiring or entrustment. Either way, once respondeat superior is admitted, alternative direct theories of liability (such as negligent hiring, retention, or entrustment) serve no purpose other than as a means to inject prejudicial character evidence into the proceeding. The *Armenta* rule prevents plaintiffs from doing indirectly what they cannot directly do — influence the jury to find against the employee driver based on evidence of his character for lack of care or skill — while preserving the plaintiff's right to be made whole through respondeat superior liability.

The Armenta rule applies in this case, which concerns a highway accident in which plaintiff and respondent Dawn Renae Diaz was injured. She sued the other drivers involved in the accident, including appellant Jose Carcamo, for negligent driving. Plaintiff maintained that Carcamo's employer, appellant Sugar Transport of the Northwest, LLC, was liable in respondeat superior. She also maintained that Sugar Transport was negligent in hiring and retaining Carcamo. Although Sugar Transport admitted respondeat superior liability, the trial court declined to apply the Armenta rule. As a result, Plaintiff introduced extensive evidence of Carcamo's driving history and character at trial, and the jury found that Carcamo and Sugar Transport had been negligent. The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment.

The Court of Appeal gave two reasons for declining to follow *Armenta*, neither of which is valid. First, the court distinguished *Armenta* and *Jeld-Wen* on the ground that they involved negligent entrustment claims, whereas the plaintiff here framed her claims as negligent hiring and

negligent retention. (Opn. at pp. 5-8.)<sup>1</sup> This is a distinction without a difference because these theories are indistinguishable in the context of vehicular accident lawsuits against employees and their employers. Both theories require proof of the same allegedly negligent conduct on the part of the employer: allowing the employee to operate the motor vehicle. Without the subsequent entrustment of the vehicle, the employer's alleged negligence in hiring and retaining the employee would be nonactionable. The common purpose of all these theories, moreover, is to make the employer liable for any harm caused by its employee's driving in cases where the respondeat superior doctrine does not apply. Hence, once the employer admits respondeat superior liability, the direct liability claims become superfluous, merge with the respondeat superior claim, and cannot be pursued.

The second reason the Court of Appeal gave for distinguishing Armenta and Jeld-Wen is "neither case purports to deal with the allocation of fault required by Proposition 51." (Opn. at pp. 5-6.) Without evidence of negligent hiring and retention, the court concluded, the jury could not have apportioned noneconomic damages as required by Civil Code section 1431.2. (Opn. at p. 12.) Yet, the Jeld-Wen decision does specifically address Proposition 51 and properly holds that it has no effect on the Armenta rule: "There is nothing in Armenta that is adversely affected by the development of ... comparative negligence principles, because Armenta represents a different and still viable policy rule that is based upon evidentiary concerns about the vicarious liability of an employer for employee negligence." (Jeld-Wen, supra, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 871.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeal's opinion ("Opn.") is attached at the appendix to this brief along with the order denying rehearing, which made a minor, nonsubstantive modification to the opinion.

As Jeld-Wen recognized, Proposition 51 simply requires that noneconomic damages be allocated by fault. It does not increase the pool of legally recognized fault, allow plaintiffs to pursue duplicative causes of action, or suggest that the rationale underlying the Armenta rule is no longer valid. Moreover, an employer's fault in failing to prevent an employee's negligent driving cannot exceed the fault of the employee in causing the accident at issue. Once an employer has conceded respondeat superior liability for its driver, the liability of the employer and employee is identical and coextensive, and no basis exists to apportion liability among them. The proportional fault of the drivers involved in an accident does not change based on whether one of them is employed.

Even if evidence of negligent hiring, retention, or entrustment had some relevance to the apportionment of noneconomic damages, this would not override the strong public policies underlying the *Armenta* rule and Evidence Code section 1104. Holding that Proposition 51 has superseded *Armenta* would open the door to the discovery and admission of otherwise inadmissible character evidence in thousands of actions filed each year in California alleging the negligence of employees in operating motor vehicles. Such evidence will rarely if ever be excluded under Evidence Code section 352 or 1104, because it will always be the most probative evidence of negligent hiring or entrustment. The result will be longer, less focused trials with less reliable verdicts. Also, employers will have far less incentive to admit respondeat superior liability, especially in cases where it may be debatable.

This case is a prime example of what can happen when the *Armenta* rule is not applied. Plaintiff's counsel used the barest allegations of

negligence by Carcamo<sup>2</sup> to introduce extensive evidence of his previous accidents, immigration status, employment history, and character, as well as Sugar Transport's employment practices and polices. The evidence plaintiff introduced on negligent hiring and retention dwarfed the testimony she introduced regarding the accident at issue. Plaintiff's counsel continued this focus in closing arguments, and compounded the prejudicial effect by warning jurors that unless they found Carcamo negligent, they would be putting a "big seal of approval" on his driving history and on Sugar Transport's hiring practices over seven years. Heeding this warning, the jury found Carcamo 20% at fault for the accident and Sugar Transport an additional 35% at fault. By contrast, the jury found that the other driver was only 45% at fault, despite the undisputed evidence that she set the accident in motion through an unsafe lane change.

For these reasons, the Court should hold that the *Armenta* rule applies in negligent hiring and retention actions, as well as negligent entrustment actions, and that Proposition 51 has no effect on the rule's application. Because appellants preserved the *Armenta* issue, and because the trial court's error in not applying the rule was plainly prejudicial, the Court should remand the case to the Court of Appeal with instructions to grant a new trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Specifically, plaintiff claimed Carcamo was negligent because he should have driven in the right lane, even though he moved into the middle lane to pass a slow-moving vehicle, and because he should have prevented the accident by avoiding the vehicle that sideswiped him, even though the other driver moved into his lane suddenly and without signaling.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. The Accident

This action concerns injuries that plaintiff sustained in a freeway accident in which a pickup truck driven by defendant Karen Tagliaferri collided first with a Sugar Transport truck driven by Carcamo and then with plaintiff's vehicle.

The accident occurred while Carcamo was driving north in the middle lane of the 101 freeway. (9 RT 1436:14-28.) The one neutral eyewitness, Rose Gamboa, described the events leading up to the accident as follows. Tagliaferri was driving behind Carcamo in the middle lane at about the same speed. Surrounding traffic was light. Tagliaferri then accelerated, moved into the fast lane, and went past Carcamo. Without signaling, Tagliaferri pulled back into the middle lane but "didn't quite clear" the front of Carcamo's truck. Gamboa testified that "it all happened so fast, and we [Gamboa and Carcamo] were both unclear why [Tagliaferri's] black truck would move so quickly back into his lane because there was no one in front of her vehicle or [Carcamo's] white, commercial vehicle." (2 RT 306:24-307:12.) Tagliaferri spun out of control, flew over the center median, and landed on top of a southbound car driven by plaintiff. (2 RT 271:7-284:16, 310:12-312:8.) A report prepared by the CHP contained a nearly identical description (3 RT 512:5-523:8), and Carcamo's testimony was consistent (9 RT 1433:19-1437:7). Tagliaferri had no memory of what happened. (2 RT 328:12-21.)<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although Tagliaferri suffered serious injuries in the accident and was left in a coma for two weeks afterwards, she never sued Carcamo or Sugar Transport for their supposed negligence in causing her injuries. (2 RT 331:13-333:8; 5 CT 1185-1234 [docket].)

One of plaintiff's theories of liability was that Carcamo accelerated while Tagliaferri was passing him. No direct evidence supported this theory. Gamboa testified that Carcamo maintained a consistent speed (2 RT 318:2-11), and Carcamo denied trying to cut Tagliaferri off (9 RT 1416:1-12). Plaintiff argued that Sugar Transport's loss of tachographic evidence supported an inference that Carcamo was speeding (10 RT 1554:24-1558:21, 1645:19-28), and that Carcamo must have accelerated because he was driving faster than he testified in his deposition (but not faster than he told CHP officers immediately after the accident) (8 RT 1284:9-20, 1317:4-1318:8). Plaintiff also introduced evidence to suggest Carcamo should have been driving in the right lane, was inattentive, and should have slowed down to avoid the accident. (4 RT 743:13-27; 5 RT 829:25-830:15; 6 RT 953:11-954:4; 8 RT 1276:11-1277:14, 1355:10-22; 9 RT 1413:28-1414:6, 1419:12-25, 1420:16-1421:5, 1423:22-1424:3, 1425:3-19.)

## B. Sugar Transport Admits Liability for Any Negligence by its Driver

Plaintiff sued Tagliaferri, Carcamo, and Sugar Transport, alleging Carcamo had "act[ed] within the course . . . of [his] . . . employment" with Sugar Transport. (1 CT 2, ¶ 6.) Plaintiff pled no claims for negligent hiring or retention, but instead alleged that Sugar Transport had negligently "entrusted, permitted use of, bailed, [and] controlled" the truck. (Id. at 3-4, ¶¶ 9, 15, italics added.) At trial, plaintiff's attorneys rephrased the theory of liability as negligent hiring and retention but never moved to amend the complaint to conform to proof. (2 RT 444:17-445:9; 5 CT 1185-1234 [docket].)

Early in the litigation, Sugar Transport admitted respondeat superior liability for Carcamo's actions. In verified responses to plaintiff's form

permission to operate the Sugar Transport truck by Sugar Transport of the Northwest LLC, as it was his job to operate that truck." (4 CT 878:22-24, italics added.) At trial, Sugar Transport formally stipulated that Carcamo was acting in the course and scope of his employment, and that Sugar Transport was liable for any negligence by Carcamo. (2 RT 432:8-21.) Immediately afterward, plaintiff's attorney acknowledged that Sugar Transport's vicarious liability was never disputed: "[T]hey are agreeing to — that it's respondeat superior. That's never been an issue." (2 RT 434:7-8, italics added; see also 2 RT 436:20-27.)

# C. The Trial Court Nevertheless Admits Evidence of Carcamo's Character and Sugar Transport's Hiring and Safety Practices

Despite Sugar Transport's stipulation to respondeat superior liability and its repeated objection that the *Armenta* rule precluded plaintiff from pursuing negligent hiring and retention theories of liability (2 RT 430:15-432:21, 434:16-435:6, 442:14-443:9, 451:4-16; 7 RT 1078:11-17, 1081:13-25), the trial court allowed plaintiff to introduce evidence at trial that Sugar Transport was liable under those theories (2 RT 453:3-21; 7 RT 1170:22-1171:12; 9 RT 1374:6-17).

Over objection, plaintiff introduced evidence that Carcamo had several on-the-job accidents before the January 20, 2006 accident at issue, including one in 1999, for which Carcamo was sued and found at fault, and another on January 4, 2006, while he was with Sugar Transport. Plaintiff questioned multiple witnesses about a reference form Sugar Transport

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 2 RT 242:19-243:21, 428:1-10, 454:18-456:23; 6 RT 994:7-16, 1038:25-1039:14; 7 RT 1073:3-1075:25; 9 RT 1366:6-21, 1374:6-18, 1392:13-24, 1400:5-1406:20; 5 CT 1080-1082, 1131-1133; Ex. 169.

received from one of Carcamo's prior employers. Among other things, the form indicated that Carcamo had been involved in two accidents, had poor safety habits, and the prior employer would not rehire him.<sup>5</sup> Plaintiff's expert on negligent hiring testified that he had never seen such a poor evaluation. (2 RT 473:1-21.) Plaintiff also introduced a copy of Carcamo's entire driver qualification file and solicited testimony from numerous witnesses about its contents.<sup>6</sup>

Plaintiff used the negligent hiring and retention theories to go through Carcamo's employment history in detail, highlighting the most prejudicial evidence. For example, plaintiff repeatedly forced Carcamo to admit that he had used a "phony" Social Security number, because of his status as an illegal alien. (9 RT 1380:4-1384:22, 1392:6-8, 1438:25-27.) Plaintiff emphasized that Carcamo had been fired by previous employers and, between jobs, returned to "[his] country" of Honduras. (9 RT 1389:1-1390:25 [four references to "your country" over two pages], 1393:8-19, 1399:14-26.) Plaintiff introduced evidence that Carcamo had filed multiple claims for workers' compensation and unemployment benefits, and that he and his wife had filed for bankruptcy. (9 RT 1379:9-16, 1382:13-22, 1384:15-1386:14, 1388:18-1390:9, 1393:8-1395:19.) Plaintiff used a comment in a performance evaluation of Carcamo that he was harsh and condescending and became frustrated easily as propensity evidence to support an inference that Carcamo had accelerated to prevent Tagliaferri from passing him. (4 RT 730:4-731:20.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 2 RT 467:5-468:24; 4 RT 729:21-730:3; 6 RT 1009:25-1010:12; 5 CT 1134-1135, 1166; Exs. 13, 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 2 RT 371:26-373:12, 375:9-378:10, 384:7-390:7, 393:8-394:26, 425:19-426:12; 4 RT 730:4-13; 5 RT 776:6-16; 6 RT 1014:1-1015:12, 1026:8-1027:21, 1038:25-1039:14; 7 RT 1063:21-1066:10; 9 RT 1380:4-12, 1383:1-18, 1386:20-1387:15, 1392:25-1396:25; 5 CT at 1074-1079, 1134-1184; Ex. 13.

Plaintiff also questioned Sugar Transport's employees at length about the company's procedures for screening job applicants generally and as applied to Carcamo. (6 RT 1004:18-1005:6, 1007:21-1015:12, 1038:2-12.) Likewise, Tagliaferri's counsel took Sugar Transport to task for failing to take additional steps to verify whether Carcamo "had any prior atfault motor vehicle accidents." (6 RT 1032:24-1034:9; 7 RT 1154:23-26, 1156:21-1157:27.) Based on this evidence, plaintiff's expert on negligent hiring described Sugar Transport's screening procedures as violating industry standards, as well as California and federal regulations. (2 RT 346:1-347:15, 363:8-366:3, 369:19-371:25, 393:1-395:2, 462:4-475:1; 5 RT 778:4-25.) The expert opined that, based on what Sugar Transport knew, it should not have hired Carcamo. (2 RT 474:19-475:1; 4 RT 729:26-730:3; 6 RT 971:1-6.)

### D. In Closing Arguments, Plaintiff Focuses on Carcamo's Character as an Unsafe Driver

In closing arguments, plaintiff's attorney concentrated on the negligent hiring and retention theories, highlighting the evidence that Carcamo had the character of an unsafe driver. He argued that Sugar Transport "puts profits over safety" by hiring "unsafe drivers," so it could "put bodies behind the wheel" and "put checks in the bank." (10 RT 1554:8-14, 1565:12-1566:7; 1569:1-1572:5.) He condemned Sugar Transport's hiring practices as inadequate to "protect you or me or anyone else," and warned that Sugar Transport would continue to put unsafe drivers "behind the wheel . . . right next to you or me or your family or Dawn Diaz[.]" (10 RT 1553:2-21.) He implored the jury to teach Sugar Transport a lesson about "safety" and "moral responsibility," and to "tell them that this is not the way the folks in Ventura, in Southern California, expect the trucking companies to operate[.]" (10 RT 1553:16-28, 1573:18-

21.) He also told the jury members that unless they found Carcamo negligent, they would be putting "a big seal of approval" on his truck driving and on Sugar Transport's practices. (10 RT 1643:19-25, 1646:28-1648:1.) Such a verdict, plaintiff's counsel warned, would tell Carcamo that he should keep driving the same way he had in the past, and would tell Sugar Transport that it had no reason to change the hiring practices it had followed for seven years. (*Ibid.*)

# E. After Being Instructed on Negligent Hiring and Retention, the Jury Finds Carcamo 20% at Fault for the Accident and Sugar Transport 35% at Fault

Appellants objected to plaintiff's proposed instruction on negligent hiring and retention, again urging that these theories of liability were unavailable because Sugar Transport stipulated to respondeat superior liability. As support, appellants once again highlighted Jeld-Wen, as well as this Court's decision in Armenta. (1 CT 212-219.) The trial court overruled the objections (10 RT 1695:2-1696:27) and instructed the jury on plaintiff's negligent hiring and retention theories (2 CT 250, 270-271). Among other elements, the instruction asked whether Sugar Transport "knew or should have known . . . that Jose Carcamo was unfit to perform the duties for which he was employed and that he would pose an undue risk of harm to persons such as the plaintiff Dawn Diaz[.]" (2 CT 270; 10 RT 1665:2-22.) The trial court instructed the jury to disregard Carcamo's previous accidents in determining whether he was negligent on the day of the accident, but placed no limitations on the evidence plaintiff had introduced regarding Carcamo's employment history, immigration status, and general character, and regarding Sugar Transport's practices for hiring and retaining its employees. (2 CT 274; 10 RT 1666:9-13.)

The jury rendered its verdict, finding both Carcamo and Tagliaferri negligent. (2 CT 332-335.) With respect to Sugar Transport, the jury found it had negligently hired and retained Carcamo, but that only the negligent retention was a substantial factor in 'causing plaintiff's damages. (2 CT 333-334.) The jury allocated 20% of fault to Carcamo (for which Sugar Transport was vicariously liable), another 35% to Sugar Transport (for negligent retention), and the remaining 45% to Tagliaferri. (2 CT 334.) Effectively, the verdict imposed a combined 55% of the fault on Sugar Transport.

The total damages award was \$22,566,373, including \$17,566,373 in economic damages and \$5,000,000 in noneconomic damages. (2 CT 334.) The trial court entered judgment (2 CT 430-435) and appellants moved for a new trial (4 CT 728-782). The court acknowledged that *Jeld-Wen* presented a "difficult question" (10 RT 1763:6-18) but denied appellants' motion (5 CT 1048-1051.)

## F. The Court of Appeal Affirms, Holding that the Armenta Rule is Inapplicable

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