SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT FILED

S181627 B211127

AUG 1 0 2010

Frederick K. Onirion Clerk

IN THE

Deputy

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DAWN DIAZ,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

JOSE CARCAMO and SUGAR TRANSPORT OF THE NORTHWEST, LLC.,

Defendants, Appellants, and Petitioners.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROLAND WRINKLE — SBN 73237 GRASSINI & WRINKLE

20750 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 221 Woodland Hills, CA 91364-6235 (818) 348-1717 mail@grassiniandwrinkle.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent

S181627 B211127

IN THE

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DAWN DIAZ,

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

A directly-negligent employer's liability is no more "derivative" (in the sense of being "vicarious," "in essence" vicarious, or fault-free) than an employer's punitive liability is derivative (vicarious) for the malicious acts of an employee as to whom the "employer had advance knowledge of the unfitness of the employee and employed him or her with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others" (Civil Code § 3294(b)). Similarly, a negligent attorney's liability for blowing the statute of limitations on an auto accident case is not derivative (vicarious) because his/her liability for legal malpractice is conditional or dependent on a finding of negligent driving. No malicious act by the employee = no punitive liability of the employer. No negligent driving = no legal

malpractice liability. The employer's conscious disregard or the attorney's negligence may well be said to "derive from the act or omission of the person hired [or person driving]," but that does not mean that the employer or attorney was not malicious, negligent, culpable or blameworthy. Rather, it means only that the element of causation is lacking.

Petitioner's "vicarious because derivative" argument is casuistry—slippery wordplay. Derivativeness does not solve the problem that, "absent proof of negligent hiring and retention, the required apportionment of fault would have been impossible." (Slip Opinion, p. 12.)⁷

V.

THE COURT OF APPEAL OPINION WAS BASED ON THE TRIAL COURT'S PROPER BALANCING OF "IMPOSSIBILITY OF APPORTIONMENT" VERSUS "LIKELIHOOD OF PREJUDICE"—NOT UPON A DISPOSITIVE DISTINCTION BETWEEN NEGLIGENT ENTRUSTMENT AND NEGLIGENT HIRING/RETENTION.

According to Petitioner:

"The first reason given by the Court of Appeal for not applying *Armenta* and *Jeld-Wen* is that those decisions dealt with negligent entrustment rather than negligent hiring and retention." (OBM, p. 23)

⁷ Petitioner claims, at OBM 21, that this Court in *Armenta* "recognize[ed]" that a claim of negligent hiring "inpute[s] an employee's negligence to his or her employer (42 Cal.2d at p. 457)." Critically, *the Court said no such thing*—at p. 457, elsewhere or ever.

But it never quotes from the Opinion. This then allows Petitioner to knock a straw man down by asserting:

"Nëgligent Entrustment and Negligent Hiring/Retention are Functionally Identical in the Context of Motor Vehicle Accidents" (OBM p. 24)

The Court of Appeal (and Respondent) *do not disagree*. The Court of Appeal was responding to an argument made in *Jeld-Wen* (and adopted by Petitioner here):

"They [the Jeld-Wen defendants] asserted that they were entitled to summary adjudication as a matter of law because negligent entrustment was not a separate, independent tort, but rather a theory of vicarious liability [¶]The court in Jeld-Wen granted the petition. In doing so it distinguished the earlier opinion of a sister panel in Syah v. Johnson (1966) 247 Cal.App.2d 534, 543-545, which held that the tort of negligent entrustment was a distinct tort and imposed direct liability on the owner of a vehicle." (Slip Opinion, p. 5; emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeal then went on to recognize that both negligent entrustment and negligent hiring/retention were *both theories of direct, and not vicarious, liability:*

"With respect to negligent hiring and retention, our Supreme Court recognized, in a decision prior to *Armenta*, that negligent retention is a theory of direct liability independent of vicarious liability.... [¶]The rule of direct liability for negligent hiring and retention has been followed in numerous subsequent cases." (Slip Opinion, pp. 6-7)

This discussion (i.e., that negligent entrustment/hiring/retention are all theories of direct and not vicarious) liability was necessitated because Petitioner STN advanced the very same argument that the employer

advanced in *Jeld-Wen*, that negligent hiring/retention is vicarious, and not direct, liability and, therefore, Proposition 51 should have no application:

"[E]ven if negligent hiring and retention somehow remained viable theories of liability, Proposition 51 still would be inapplicable because Sugar Transport's liability was essentially passive and vicarious in nature." (Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 33; emphasis added.)⁸

The Court of Appeal was required to respond to Petitioner's (then) argument. It did—and rejected it. The Court of Appeal's decision was simply not based on any "functional" distinction between negligent entrustment and negligent hiring/retention because, in this context and for these purposes, there is none; both are forms of direct, and not vicarious, liability—contrary to the position taken by STN before the Court of Appeal.⁹

⁸ Compare this statement from STN's appellate briefing with the contrary position it takes now:

[&]quot;Negligent entrustment and negligent hiring/retention are all 'direct' theories of liability in that they require some fault on the part of the hirer or entrustor" (OBM p. 24)

⁹ This discussion then allows Petitioner to allege that "Plaintiff never even pleaded negligent hiring or retention but instead alleged that Sugar Transport 'negligently ... entrusted the truck to Carcamo'" (OBM, p.24) and then goes on to discuss cases involving the consequences of a failure to plead and/or amend to conform to proof. (OBM, p. 24, fn 11). But the discussion never goes any place. Is STN arguing the trial court should have granted a nonsuit STN never made? The argument is just left hanging. More importantly, Petitioner never quoted the actual allegations of the operative complaint. Plaintiff alleged: "that each of the named defendants ... is legally responsible in some manner for the events and happenings (cont'd)

VI.

PETITIONER'S FACTUAL CLAIM OF REVERSIBLE PREJUDICE CANNOT SURVIVE A READING OF THE SPECIAL VERDICT.

Petitioner acknowledges it must not only demonstrate error—but (outcome-changing) prejudice. It cites the Court to: 1) the size of the fault percentage allocated to STN's own direct negligence, i.e., 35%; and 2) the size of the compensatory damages. Neither claim withstands scrutiny.

Petitioner intentionally hired and retained a proven, unsafe truck driver because they "needed to have bodies to work." That may be fine for the hiring of advertising copy writers, day laborers, librarians or gardeners—but not for commercial truck drivers. The safety of the

herein referred to, and caused injury and damage to the plaintiff ... through defendants' own negligence" (1 CT, p. 2, ¶6). STN never brought a demurrer or a motion on the pleadings or a nonsuit or a motion for new trial on these grounds, or any grounds related to insufficiency of the pleadings. Again, the argument STN advances at this point simply goes nowhere. Nor could it go anywhere. See Hahn v. Mirda, (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 740, 747 ["Negligence may be alleged in general terms; that is, it is sufficient to allege an act was negligently done without stating the particular omission which rendered it negligent."] So, why the discussion of the fact that plaintiff, while (sufficiently) pleading negligence generally used the word "entrusted" elsewhere? Is it Petitioner's attempt to drive home an argument that there is no "functional" (i.e., for the present purposes) distinction between entrustment and hiring/retention? If so, Petitioner can stop arguing. Respondent concedes (and has never disputed) the point. It is, indeed, a dispute which lives on only in Petitioner's imagination—born of its reading of that portion of the Opinion which rejected Petitioner's then position that negligent hiring/retention (as with negligent entrustment) was "essentially vicarious" and acknowledged that which Petitioner now acknowledges, i.e., that negligent hiring/retention (as with negligent entrustment) is *not* vicarious but is direct liability.

motoring public is at stake—that is why commercial trucking, at both the state and federal levels is such a highly regulated industry. (See e.g., Commercial Motor Vehicle Safety Program, California Vehicle Code section 15200-15325 and the Federal Commercial Motor Vehicle Operation Act, 49 USCA sections 31301-31317). The 35% of fault allocated to STN by the jury reflects reserved and dispassionate decision-making.

Next, Petitioner argues that, "it is reasonably probable that the jury's award included a punitive element" (OBM p. 48) Where? Petitioner decided not to present a single witness on damages and the jury proved itself to be downright frugal and coldly unemotional by awarding brain-damaged and destroyed Dawn Diaz \$45,000 a year for a lifetime of general damages (i.e., \$2 million over 44 years). The verdict can only be considered to have been a product of (dis)passion and (lack of) prejudice.

Or, was it the 20% of total fault attributed to the employee/driver's negligent driving? The ampleness of that evidence (including STN's destruction of the "tattletale," "silent witness" tachograph chart) is detailed in our Factual Statement above. The jury acted reasonably and reservedly.

VII.

PETITIONER, MULTIPLY AND PREJUDICIALLY (i.e., UNFAIRLY) FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ARMENTA ISSUE AND FORFEITED ITS RIGHT TO RAISE IT. 10

- A. STN NEVER MADE THE REQUISITE *Pre-Trial* BINDING ADMISSION OF RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR LIABILITY
 - 1. The Binding Pretrial Stipulation Requirement. 11

If this Court resolves the issue on the merits differently than did the trial court and the Court of Appeal, then the case should be remanded to the Court of Appeal to resolve these two "procedural arguments" in the first instance. California Rules of Court, Rule 8.528(c) provides:

"(c) Remand for decision on remaining issues.

"If it decides fewer than all the issues presented by the case, the Supreme Court may remand the cause to a Court of Appeal for decision on any remaining issues."

See Snukal v. Flightways Mfg., Inc., (2000) 23 Cal.4th 754, 77, ["[T]his court in granting a petition for review frequently has accorded review of selected issues, remanding other unresolved issues to the Court of Appeal for decision."]; and Tverberg v. Fillner Construction, Inc. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 518 (at 110 Cal.Rptr.3d 672), ["[T]he Court of Appeal did not address other issues raised on plaintiff's appeal from the trial court's grant of summary judgment for defendant general contractor, notably whether defendant could be held directly liable on a theory that it retained control over safety conditions at the jobsite. We therefore remand this matter to the Court of Appeal for consideration of those remaining issues." (Emphasis is the Court's).]

¹⁰ The two arguments Respondent Diaz advances in this section (i.e, 1. STN never made the requisite pre-trial admission; and 2. STN waived, or is estopped from asserting, the *Armenta/Jeld-Wen* issue by not raising it until the middle of trial) were extensively briefed by the parties before the Court of Appeal. However, the Court of Appeal *never reached the issue* because it elected to decide the appeal on the merits: "Because we resolve the issue on the merits, we need not address the procedural arguments made by the parties." (Slip Opinion, p. 18, ftn 8)

The *Jeld-Wen* court based its ruling on the following:

"Once an employer has admitted before trial to vicarious liability for its employee's negligence, ... the exclusionary rule of Evidence Code section 1104 operates to protect the employer from being exposed to prejudicial...." (Jeld-Wen at 131 Cal.App.4th 870; emphasis added.)

The defendant employer in *Jeld-Wen* admitted course and scope in a declaration and then moved for summary adjudication. The court of appeal repeatedly referred to the fact that the binding admission came "pretrial" (See 131 Cal.App.4th at 870 and 871). In *Armenta*, the "defendants admitted in their answer the agency and scope of employment of [the employee]." (*Armenta* at 42 Cal.2d 456.)

Here, Petitioner STN did neither.

2. The Record Reflects The Requisite Stipulation Coming In The Middle Of The Trial.

Prior to trial, defendant STN did not admit respondeat superior liability in its answer (as in *Armenta*) and did not stipulate to it by declaration (as in *Jeld-Wen*). The parties answered ready for trial (CT-I, 44), filed motions in limine on negligent hiring (*id.*, 45-50), argued the motions (*id.*, 68, 86), briefed the 402 hearing on negligent hiring (*id.*, 71-87), participated in the 402 hearing on negligent hiring (RT-1, 77 et seq.), filed trial briefs (CT-I, 96-108), picked a jury and gave opening statements

This not a mere "procedural nicety." It is a substantive requirement for the threshold application of *Armenta/Jeld-Wen*.

(RT-1, 77-163), examined and cross-examined seven witnesses (RT-1, 164–RT-2, 345)—all without a stipulation from defendant regarding respondent superior liability.

While Plaintiff was examining her eighth trial witness, a trucking practices expert on the issue of negligent hiring, defendant STN finally offered to stipulate to vicarious liability—not on its own initiative but only when prompted to do so by the Court (RT-2, 432:8-21). In no way, shape or form can this be construed as a "pretrial admission" as required by Armenta or Jeld-Wen. Petitioner STN waited until the jury had heard extensive voir dire, opening statements, eight witnesses and testimony and had seen documents regarding negligent entrustment until it finally agreed to the stipulation. As counsel for codefendant Tagliaferri observed at the time (and eight days before STN ever mentioned Jeld-Wen), "at this point in time, we are so far down the road, there's no turning back." (RT-2, 435:20-24; emphasis added.)

3. Petitioner Stands The Discovery Act On Its Head By Claiming That Its Answer To The Form Interrogatory Regarding Permissive Use Constitutes A Binding Admission Of Respondeat Superior Liability.

In answering Form Interrogatory 20.2, as to the identity of the truck driver, occupants, owner and whether the driver had permission (CT-IV, 868-869), Petitioner STN offered this bit of snit: "This information is equally available to plaintiff through the traffic collision report.

Mr. Carcamo was given permission to operate the Sugar Transport truck by Sugar Transport of the Northwest LLC, as it was his job to operate that truck." (CT-IV, 878.)

Petitioner now attempts to characterize this answer to the form permissive use interrogatory as a *binding admission* of respondent superior liability. It can only do so by: 1) ignoring the wording of the interrogatory; and 2) grossly distorting the Discovery Act.

STN's answer to the form interrogatory regarding permissive use (i.e., that the driver was a permissive user and that the driver's job was to drive the truck) is a far cry from a binding, irrevocable formal stipulation, or "admit[ting] in their answer to agency and course and scope of [the driver]" (Armenta at 42 Cal.2d 456) or "before trial . . . admit[ting] vicarious liability for the acts of its employee" (Jeld-Wen at 131 Cal.App.4th 857). The issue of respondeat superior liability is not removed from the case by an answer to interrogatory saying the driver permissibly drove the vehicle and that it was his job to do so. Moreover, and more critically, answers to interrogatories are not binding admissions or (See Kelly v. New West Federal Savings (1996) 49 stipulations. Cal.App.4th 659, 672 ["While a party may be precluded from introducing evidence based on a response to a request for admission (citation), depositions and interrogatories do not perform the same function as request for admissions, issue preclusion 'Most of the other discovery

procedures are aimed primarily at assisting counsel to prepare for trial.

Requests for admission, on the other hand, are primarily aimed at setting at rest a triable issue so that it will not have to be tried.' (citation)"].)

Responses to requests for admissions are binding—answers to interrogatories are not. It is the *binding* nature of the pretrial admissions in both *Armenta* and *Jeld-Wen* that allowed the argument to be made.

B. THE ARMENTA ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED; PETITIONER PREJUDICIALLY AND INEXPLICABLY DELAYED RAISING IT UNTIL THE MIDDLE OF TRIAL.

1. Procedural History

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